

December 2013

Exposure Draft ED/2013/10

# Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements

Proposed amendments to IAS 27

Comments to be received by 3 February 2014

IASB®

 IFRS®

**Equity Method in  
Separate Financial Statements**

(Proposed amendments to IAS 27)

*Comments to be received by 3 February 2014*

Exposure Draft ED/2013/10 *Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements* (Proposed amendments to IAS 27) is published by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) for comment only. The proposals may be modified in the light of the comments received before being issued in final form. Comments need to be received by **3 February 2014** and should be submitted in writing to the address below or electronically via our website [www.ifrs.org](http://www.ifrs.org) using the 'Comment on a proposal' page.

All responses will be put on the public record and posted on our website unless the respondent requests confidentiality. Requests for confidentiality will not normally be granted unless supported by good reason, such as commercial confidence.

**Disclaimer:** the IASB, the IFRS Foundation, the authors and the publishers do not accept responsibility for any loss caused by acting or refraining from acting in reliance on the material in this publication, whether such loss is caused by negligence or otherwise.

International Financial Reporting Standards (including International Accounting Standards and SIC and IFRIC Interpretations), Exposure Drafts and other IASB and/or IFRS Foundation publications are copyright of the IFRS Foundation.

**Copyright © 2013 IFRS Foundation®**

ISBN: 978-1-909704-23-7

**All rights reserved.** Copies of the Exposure Draft may only be made for the purpose of preparing comments to be submitted to the IASB provided that such copies are for personal or intra-organisational use only and are not sold or disseminated and each copy acknowledges the IFRS Foundation's copyright and sets out the IASB's address in full.

Except as permitted above no part of this publication may be translated, reprinted, reproduced or used in any form either in whole or in part or by any electronic, mechanical or other means, now known or hereafter invented, including photocopying and recording, or in any information storage and retrieval system, without prior permission in writing from the IFRS Foundation.

The approved text of International Financial Reporting Standards and other IASB publications is that published by the IASB in the English language. Copies may be obtained from the IFRS Foundation. Please address publications and copyright matters to:

IFRS Foundation Publications Department  
30 Cannon Street, London EC4M 6XH, United Kingdom  
Tel: +44 (0)20 7332 2730 Fax: +44 (0)20 7332 2749  
Email: [publications@ifrs.org](mailto:publications@ifrs.org) Web: [www.ifrs.org](http://www.ifrs.org)



The IFRS Foundation logo/the IASB logo/the IFRS for SMEs logo/'Hexagon Device', 'IFRS Foundation', 'eIFRS', 'IASB', 'IFRS for SMEs', 'IAS', 'IASS', 'IFRIC', 'IFRS', 'IFRSs', 'SIC', 'International Accounting Standards' and 'International Financial Reporting Standards' are Trade Marks of the IFRS Foundation.

The IFRS Foundation is a not-for-profit corporation under the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, USA and operates in England and Wales as an overseas company (Company number: FC023235) with its principal office as above.

## CONTENTS

	<i>from page</i>
<b>INTRODUCTION</b>	<b>4</b>
<b>INVITATION TO COMMENT</b>	<b>5</b>
<b>[DRAFT] AMENDMENTS TO IAS 27 <i>SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS</i></b>	<b>7</b>
<b>[DRAFT] CONSEQUENTIAL AMENDMENTS TO OTHER IFRSs</b>	<b>9</b>
<b>APPROVAL BY THE BOARD OF <i>EQUITY METHOD IN SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS</i> (PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO IAS 27) PUBLISHED IN DECEMBER 2013</b>	<b>10</b>
<b>BASIS FOR CONCLUSIONS ON THE EXPOSURE DRAFT <i>EQUITY METHOD IN SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS</i> (PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO IAS 27)</b>	<b>11</b>

## Introduction

---

Prior to the revision in 2003 of IAS 27 *Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements* and IAS 28 *Investments in Associates*, the equity method was one of the options available to an entity to account for investments in subsidiaries and associates in the entity's separate financial statements. In 2003, the equity method was removed from the options.

IAS 27 *Separate Financial Statements* allows an entity to account for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates either at cost or in accordance with IFRS 9 *Financial Instruments* in the entity's separate financial statements.

The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) has published this Exposure Draft of proposed amendments to IAS 27 to restore the option to use the equity method to account for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in the entity's separate financial statements.

## Invitation to comment

The IASB invites comments on the proposals in this Exposure Draft, particularly on the questions set out below. Comments are most helpful if they:

- (a) comment on the questions as stated;
- (b) indicate the specific paragraph(s) to which they relate;
- (c) contain a clear rationale; and
- (d) describe any alternative that the IASB should consider, if applicable.

## Questions for respondents

### Question 1—Use of the equity method

The IASB proposes to permit the equity method as one of the options to account for an entity's investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in the entity's separate financial statements.

Do you agree with the inclusion of the equity method as one of the options? If not, why?

### Question 2—Transition provisions

The IASB proposes that an entity electing to change to the equity method would be required to apply that change retrospectively, and therefore would be required to apply IAS 8 *Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors*.

Do you agree with the proposed transition provisions? If not, why and what alternative do you propose?

### Question 3—First-time adopters

The IASB does not propose to provide any special relief for first-time adopters. A first-time adopter electing to use the equity method would be required to apply the method from the date of transition to IFRSs in accordance with the general requirements of IFRS 1 *First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards*.

Do you agree that a special relief is not required for a first-time adopter? If not, why and what alternative do you propose?

### Question 4—Consequential amendment to IAS 28 *Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures*

The IASB proposes to amend paragraph 25 of IAS 28 in order to avoid a conflict with the principles of IFRS 10 *Consolidated Financial Statements* in situations in which an entity loses control of a subsidiary but retains an ownership interest in the former subsidiary that gives the entity significant influence or joint control, and the entity elects to use the equity method to account for the investments in its separate financial statements.

Do you agree with the proposed consequential amendment? If not, why?

<b>Question 5—Other comments</b>
----------------------------------

Do you have any other comments on the proposals?
--

## [Draft] Amendments to IAS 27 *Separate Financial Statements*

In the Introduction, paragraph IN1 is amended. New text is underlined and deleted text is struck through.

### Introduction

---

IN1 IAS 27 *Separate Financial Statements* contains accounting and disclosure requirements for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates when an entity prepares separate financial statements. The Standard requires an entity preparing separate financial statements to account for those investments either at cost, ~~or~~ in accordance with IFRS 9 *Financial Instruments*, or using the equity method.

Paragraphs 4–7, 10 and 12 are amended and paragraph 18J is added. New text is underlined and deleted text is struck through.

### Definitions

---

- 4 The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings specified:
- ...
- Separate financial statements* are those presented by a parent (ie an investor with control of a subsidiary) or an investor with joint control of, or significant influence over, an investee, in which the investments are accounted for either at cost, ~~or~~ in accordance with IFRS 9 *Financial Instruments*, or using the equity method as described in IAS 28 *Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures*.
- 5 The following terms are defined in Appendix A of IFRS 10 *Consolidated Financial Statements*, Appendix A of IFRS 11 *Joint Arrangements* and paragraph 3 of IAS 28 *Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures*:
- associate
  - equity method
  - ...
- 6 Separate financial statements are those presented in addition to consolidated financial statements or in addition to the financial statements of an entity that does not have investments in subsidiaries, ie investor in an associate or joint venture in which investments in associates or joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method, other than in the circumstances set out in paragraphs 8–8A. Separate financial statements need not be appended to, or accompany, those statements.
- 7 ~~Financial statements in which the equity method is applied are not separate financial statements. Similarly, the~~ The financial statements of an entity that



does not have a subsidiary, associate or joint venturer's interest in a joint venture are not separate financial statements.

...

## Preparation of separate financial statements

---

...

10 When an entity prepares separate financial statements, it shall account for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates either:

- (a) at cost; ~~or~~
- (b) in accordance with IFRS 9; ~~or~~
- (c) using the equity method as described in IAS 28.

The entity shall apply the same accounting for each category of investments. Investments accounted for at cost or using the equity method shall be accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5 *Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations* when they are classified as held for sale or for distribution (or included in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale or for distribution). The measurement of investments accounted for in accordance with IFRS 9 is not changed in such circumstances.

...

12 ~~An entity shall recognise a dividend~~ Dividend from a subsidiary, a joint venture or an associate is recognised ~~in profit or loss in its~~ the separate financial statements ~~of an~~ entity when ~~it's~~ the entity's right to receive the dividend is established. The dividend is recognised:

- (a) in profit or loss if the entity elects to measure the investment at cost or in accordance with IFRS 9; or
- (b) as a reduction from the carrying amount of the investment if the entity elects to use the equity method.

...

## Effective date and transition

---

...

18] Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements (Amendments to IAS 27), issued in [date], amended paragraphs 4-7, 10 and 12. An entity shall apply those paragraphs for annual periods beginning on or after [date] retrospectively in accordance with IAS 8 *Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors*. Earlier application is permitted.

## [Draft] Consequential amendments to other IFRSs

### IFRS 1 *First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards*

Paragraph 39W is added.

#### Effective date

---

...

39W *Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements (Amendments to IAS 27)*, issued in [date], amended paragraph D14. An entity shall apply that amendment for annual periods beginning on or after [date] retrospectively in accordance with IAS 8. Earlier application is permitted.

In Appendix D, paragraph D14 is amended. New text is underlined and deleted text is struck through.

#### Investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates

- D14 When an entity prepares separate financial statements, IAS 27 requires it to account for its investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates either:
- (a) at cost; ~~or~~
  - (b) in accordance with IFRS 9; ~~or~~
  - (c) using the equity method as described in IAS 28.

#### IAS 28 *Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures*

Paragraph 25 is amended. New text is underlined and deleted text is struck through.

#### Changes in ownership interest

- 25 If an entity's ownership interest in an associate or a joint venture is reduced, but the investment continues to be classified either as an associate or a joint venture ~~entity continues to apply the equity method~~, the entity shall reclassify to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been recognised in other comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss would be required to be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

**Approval by the Board of *Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements* (Proposed amendments to IAS 27) published in December 2013**

---

The Exposure Draft *Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements* was approved for publication by the sixteen members of the International Accounting Standards Board.

Hans Hoogervorst	Chairman
Ian Mackintosh	Vice-Chairman
Stephen Cooper	
Philippe Danjou	
Martin Edelmann	
Jan Engström	
Patrick Finnegan	
Amaro Luiz de Oliveira Gomes	
Gary Kabureck	
Prabhakar Kalavacherla	
Patricia McConnell	
Takatsugu Ochi	
Darrel Scott	
Chungwoo Suh	
Mary Tokar	
Wei-Guo Zhang	

## **Basis for Conclusions on the Exposure Draft *Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements* (Proposed amendments to IAS 27)**

*This Basis for Conclusions accompanies, but is not part of, the proposed amendments.*

### **Introduction**

---

BC1 This Basis for Conclusions summarises the considerations of the IASB when developing the amendments proposed in the Exposure Draft *Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements* (Proposed amendments to IAS 27).

### **Background**

BC2 Prior to the revision in 2003 of IAS 27 *Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements* and IAS 28 *Investments in Associates*, the equity method was one of the options available to an entity for measuring investments in subsidiaries and associates in the entity's separate financial statements. IAS 31 *Interests in Joint Ventures*, however, was silent on the methods to account for interests in jointly controlled entities in the venturer's separate financial statements.

BC3 In 2003, the equity method was removed from the options and the IASB decided to require the use of cost or IAS 39 *Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement* for all investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates included in the separate financial statements. The IASB noted that the information provided by the equity method is reflected in the investor's economic entity financial statements and that there was no need to provide the same information in the separate financial statements.

BC4 In their responses to the IASB's 2011 Agenda Consultation, some respondents said that:

- (a) the laws of some countries require listed companies to present separate financial statements prepared in accordance with local regulations;
- (b) those local regulations require the use of the equity method to account for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates; and
- (c) in most cases, the use of the equity method would be the only difference between the separate financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRSs and those prepared in accordance with local regulations.

BC5 Those respondents strongly supported the inclusion of the equity method as one of the options for measuring investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in the separate financial statements of an entity.

BC6 In May 2012, the IASB decided to consider restoring the option to use the equity method of accounting in separate financial statements. The IASB decided that this work could proceed without a Discussion Paper and other optional due process steps, such as establishing a consultative group, holding public hearings and undertaking field work, as this is a narrow-scope project to restore an option and the feedback from constituents on the IASB's 2011 Agenda Consultation was sufficient.

## Preparation of separate financial statements

---

- BC7 IAS 27 does not mandate which entities produce separate financial statements. Entities may either elect or be required by local regulation to present separate financial statements that comply with IFRSs.

### Equity method

- BC8 Application of the equity method provides informative reporting of the investor's net assets and profit or loss. According to paragraph QC6 of the *Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting* information may be relevant even if some users are already aware of it from other sources. Consequently, the fact that the equity method provides information that is already reflected in consolidated financial statements does not mean that it would not provide relevant information.

### Application of the equity method

- BC9 IAS 28 *Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures* contains guidance on the application of the equity method. Many of the procedures that are appropriate for the application of the equity method are similar to the consolidation procedures described in IFRS 10 *Consolidated Financial Statements* (see paragraph 26 of IAS 28).
- BC10 Generally, the investor's net assets and profit or loss attributable to the equity holders of the investor would be the same in its consolidated financial statements and its separate financial statements wherein all investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are accounted for using the equity method as described in IAS 28. However, there could be situations in which applying the equity method to investments in subsidiaries in separate financial statements would give a different result compared to the consolidated financial statements. One such situation is the recognition of impairment losses on an investment in a subsidiary accounted for using the equity method in separate financial statements in which goodwill that forms part of the carrying amount of the investment in the subsidiary is not tested for impairment separately. Instead, the entire carrying amount of the investment in the subsidiary is tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 *Impairment of Assets* as a single asset. However, in the consolidated financial statements of the entity, since goodwill is recognised separately, it is tested for impairment by applying the requirements in IAS 36 for testing goodwill for impairment. The IASB concluded that creating any additional guidance within IAS 28 to eliminate such differences would not be appropriate.

## Consequential amendment to IAS 28

---

- BC11 An entity may lose control of a subsidiary but retain an ownership interest that gives the entity significant influence or joint control. In a situation in which the entity elects, under the proposals in this Exposure Draft, to use the equity method to account for the investments in its separate financial statements, by applying paragraph 25 of IAS 28 the entity would reclassify to profit or loss, when required, the proportion relating to that reduction in ownership interest

of the gain or loss that had previously been recognised in other comprehensive income, and continue to account for the retained investment using the existing carrying value. This is not in accordance with the principles of IFRS 10 that require an entity to recognise any investment retained in a former subsidiary at its fair value when control is lost. Consequently, the IASB has proposed an amendment to paragraph 25 of IAS 28 to avoid any conflicting accounting in such situations.

## Transition requirements

---

### For entities already applying IFRSs

- BC12 The IASB noted that an entity should be able to use the information that is used for consolidation of the subsidiary in its consolidated financial statements for applying the equity method to the investment in the subsidiary in its separate financial statements. Investments in associates and joint ventures (after applying the transition provisions of IFRS 11 when needed) are accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated financial statements, which means that an entity need not perform any additional procedures and can use the same information in its separate financial statements.
- BC13 Hence, the IASB decided that an entity that elects to use the equity method should be required to apply the proposed amendment to IAS 27 retrospectively in accordance with IAS 8.

### For first-time adopters of IFRSs

- BC14 The IASB thinks that the same considerations that had been discussed for initial application for entities already applying IFRSs also apply to first-time adopters. Consequently, the IASB decided that a first-time adopter that elects to use the equity method should apply the proposed amendment to IAS 27 from the date of transition to IFRSs in accordance with IFRS 1.

